Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-24-2012

Alpine Village Co. v. City of McCall Appellant's Brief Dckt. 39580

STATEMENT OF CASE

Appellant, Alpine Village Company (hereinafter "Alpine") filed its Complaint on December 10, 2010. Alpine's subsequently amended Complaint states three causes of action stemming from the City's requirement that Alpine comply with the City's inclusionary community housing ordinance as a mandatory precondition to Alpine's development of its property. Alpine claims that the City's actions effectuated an unlawful taking of Alpine's property in violation of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, both directly and pursuant to 42 U.S.C.A. §1983, and a taking or inverse condemnation of Alpine's property in violation of Article I, Section 14 of the Idaho Constitution.

Soon after being served with the Amended Complaint, the City removed the case to federal court. The Notice of Removal was followed closely by the City's Motion to Dismiss the Complaint. Alpine filed a Motion to Remand the action from federal court to state court. That Motion was granted by U.S. Chief District Judge B. Lynn Winmill. R., Ex. II (Ex. 29).

After remand, both Alpine and the City filed Motions for Summary Judgment on all issues except the amount of compensation to which Alpine is entitled. The District Court issued its *Memorandum Decision on Plaintiff's and Defendant's Cross Motions for Summary Judgment* on December 16, 2011. R., Vol. III, p. 519. In its *Memorandum Decision*, the District Court granted the City's Motion for Summary Judgment and denied Alpine's Motion for Summary Judgment. The City subsequently moved for an award of attorneys fees. Alpine filed its Notice of Appeal from the *Memorandum Decision* on January 12, 2012. R., Vol. III, p. 538. The District Court denied the City's Motion for Attorneys Fees; and, a *Judgment* dismissing all

claims was entered by the District Court on January 12, 2012. R., Vol. III, p. 535. The District Court also certified the *Judgment* as final pursuant to I.R.C.P. 54(b). An Amended Notice of Appeal was filed by Alpine the same day, simply to confirm that the appeal was being taken from the *Judgment*, as well as the *Memorandum Decision*. R., Vol. III, p. 542.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

The following issues are presented by Alpine in this appeal:

- 1. Whether the District Court erred as a matter of Law in granting the City's Motion for Summary Judgment and denying Alpine's Motion for Summary Judgment.
- 2. Whether the District Court erred as a matter of law in holding that Alpine's State Constitutional Takings/Inverse Condemnation Claim is barred by I.C. §50-219.
- 3. Whether the District Court erred as a matter of law by holding that Alpine's Federal Constitutional Takings Claims are unripe.
- 4. Whether the District Court erred as a matter of law by holding that Alpine's Federal Constitutional Takings Claims are barred by I.C. §5-219(4).
 - 5. Whether Alpine is entitled to an award of attorneys fees on appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Alpine Village Planned Unit Development ("Alpine Village") is a mixed use residential and commercial condominium project located in downtown McCall. Alpine is the developer of Alpine Village.

The applications required by the McCall City Code for the development of Alpine Village were filed with the City of McCall on June 20, 2006 (the "Applications").

APPELLANT'S BRIEF - PAGE 2

Approximately four months prior to Alpine's filing of the Applications, and based in large part upon the Housing Needs Assessment¹, the City had adopted Ordinances 819 and 820, which were companion community housing ordinances. R., Ex II (Ex. 1 and 2). Ordinance 819 was an "inclusionary housing" ordinance. It required developers of residential subdivisions to provide "community housing units" equal in number to a specified percentage of the total units in the subdivision.² These community housing units were required to be deed restricted units available for purchase or rent only by income qualified persons. Ordinance 820 required a "Community Housing Fee" to be paid at the time of application for a building permit for a residential unit. Ordinance 820 is not directly involved in this litigation.

Ordinance 819 was codified as McCall City Code §9.7.10. R., Ex. II (Ex. 3). It allowed an applicant who was subject to the Ordinance to comply in any one or a combination of the following four ways: (i) to build community housing units on the site of the development; (ii) to build or provide the community housing units off-site; (iii) to provide land for the construction of community housing units; and/or (iv) to pay an "in lieu fee". The Applications were subject to the mandatory requirements of Ordinance 819, as codified in McCall City Code §9.7.10.

On September 22, 2006, the Mountain Central Board of Realtors filed a lawsuit against the City, seeking a declaration that Ordinances 819 and 820 were unlawful and unconstitutional.³ In response to the filing, the City declared a moratorium on all new land use applications and

¹ The Housing Market and Needs Assessment for Valley and Adams County (Housing Needs Assessment) was completed July, 2005, it is attached hereto as Addendum 1.

² Alpine Village is considered a "subdivision" under the McCall City Code.

³ Mountain Central Board of Realtors v. City of McCall, Valley County Case No. CV-2006-490C (Idaho, Fourth Judicial Dist. Feb. 19, 2008).

as a condition of proceeding with its development applications. The City required a limited release of claims to be included in a Development Agreement which was subsequently executed by Alpine and the City. The Development Agreement contained a release of claims against the City stemming from the outcome of the Mountain Central Board of Realtors litigation "...as to Community Housing Units which are sold pursuant to this [Community Housing] Plan prior to the final disposition of such litigation." (emphasis added). R., Ex. II (Ex. 16, p.4 §7.1). No release was required by the City, nor granted by Alpine, regarding any other claims. None of the condominium units which were acquired and deed restricted by Alpine in compliance with Ordinance 819 sold prior to the final disposition of the *Mountain Central* litigation.

The McCall Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval of the Applications. In its Findings and Conclusions regarding the Application for Subdivision Preliminary Plat Approval, the Commission found that, "[t]he proposed project is subject to the requirements of the Inclusionary Housing Ordinance (No. 819)". R., Ex. II (Ex. 7, p.3, Finding No. 18 and p. 5, Conclusion No.12) and concluded that, "[t]he applicant shall obtain approval of the community housing plan when the final plat application is presented to the Commission. . .".

On December 13, 2006, the McCall City Council conducted its public hearing on the Applications. The City Council granted preliminary approval of the Alpine Village Applications. In its Findings and Conclusions regarding the Applications, the Council found that, "[t]he proposed project is subject to the requirements of the Inclusionary Housing Ordinance (No. 819)" and concluded that, "[t]he applicant shall obtain approval of the community housing

plan when the final plat application is presented to the Commission..." R., Ex. II (Ex. 9, p.3, Finding No. 18 and p. 6, Conclusion No. 2.12).

On January 5, 2007, Alpine entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement by which Alpine agreed to purchase a seventeen unit apartment complex in McCall known as the Timbers (hereinafter, "Timbers"). The purchase was contingent on Alpine receiving the City's approval of the conversion of the apartments to condominiums and the use of the condominiums as community housing units for Alpine Village. R., Ex. II, (Ex. 10 §2).

On March 12, 2007, Alpine submitted a revised Community Housing Plan, which proposed to satisfy the requirements of Ordinance 819 for Alpine Village by providing six units on site, all seventeen of the Timbers units as off-site units, and the remaining required .5 units by paying an "in lieu" fee to the City. R., Ex. II (Ex. 11).

On March 22, 2007, the McCall City Council granted Preliminary and Final Plat approval for the Timbers conversion (i.e. from apartments to condominiums) and for the use of the units as community housing units for Alpine Village. R., Ex. II (Ex. 12). The accompanying proposed Development Agreement contained language dedicating all seventeen of the Timbers Units as community housing units pursuant to McCall City Code §9.7.10. R., E. 11 (Ex. 13, p.2, §4.1).

On or about April 16, 2007, Alpine closed on its purchase of the Timbers project. The purchase price paid by Alpine for the property was \$2,100,462.40, which was paid in cash at closing. R., Ex. II (Ex. 14). Alpine's sole reason for acquiring the Timbers project was to provide the Community Housing Units required by Ordinance 819 for Alpine Village.

On August 23, 2007, the City Council approved the Final Plat/Plan for Phase 1 of Alpine Village, which contained the aforesaid revised Community Housing Plan. R., Ex. II, (Ex. 15).

On December 13, 2007, the Development Agreement for Alpine Village was signed. The final Community Housing Plan, dedicating all seventeen of the Timbers units as community housing units for Alpine Village, was attached as Exhibit B to the Development Agreement.⁴

On February 19, 2008, District Court Judge Thomas Neville issued a *Memorandum Decision and Order* in *Mountain Central*, Valley County Case No. CV2006-490-C, finding Ordinances 819 and 820 to be unconstitutional, void and invalid. R., Ex. II (Ex. 17). No appeal was taken from that Decision.

On April 24, 2008, the McCall City Council adopted Resolution 08-11, which authorized refunds of fees paid pursuant to Ordinance 820 which, as is noted above, was the companion Ordinance to Ordinance 819. R., Ex. II (Ex. 18). On June 26, 2008, the City Council adopted Resolution 08-17⁵, pursuant to the terms of which refunds were also authorized for those persons who "voluntarily" paid Community Housing Fees under Ordinances 827 and 833. R., Ex. II (Ex. 20, p. 3).

On August 20, 2008, the First Amendment to the Alpine Village Development was recorded. The Amendment released Alpine from any further obligation to provide Community Housing for Alpine Village. R., Ex. II (Ex. 21, p. 2§1).

⁴ R, Ex. II (Ex. 16 §7.1). The Agreement was recorded on January 28, 2008 and was subsequently re-recorded to correct typographical errors.

⁵ Please note that the title to Resolution 08-17 provided for refund of community housing fees collected under Ordinance 820, 828 and 833; however, the body of the resolution provides for refunds of fees pursuant to 820, 827 and 833.

On November 4, 2009, the McCall City Council adopted Resolution 09-10⁶, which established December 31, 2009 as the last date on which requests for refunds of Community Housing Fees paid pursuant to Ordinances 820, 827, or 833 could be submitted. R., Ex. II (Ex. 22). Fifty-eight refund requests, totaling \$92,820, were received, approved and paid by the City for Community Housing Fees paid pursuant to Ordinances 820, 827 or 833. R., Vol. III, p. 403. *Every one* of the refund requests which was paid by the City was filed long after the expiration of the 180-day period within which such requests arguably would have been required to be filed under I.C. §50-219. In fact, the City accepted and paid refund requests which were submitted as long as forty-three months after the fees had been paid. The City did not assert I.C. §50-219 as a bar or defense to any of these refund requests.

No procedure or authorization whatsoever was provided by the City for the filing of refund requests or claims for the recovery of fees paid or monies expended pursuant to Ordinance 819.⁷

ARGUMENT

I. Introduction

In order for Alpine to proceed with its development plan for Alpine Village, it was required to comply with the mandatory provisions of the City's Ordinance 819. Alpine was not allowed to conclude the permitting process with the City until it had proposed a Community

⁶ Please note that the title to Resolution 09-10 provided for refund of community housing fees collected under Ordinance 820, 828 and 833; however, the body of the resolution provides for refunds of fees pursuant to 820, 827 and 833.

⁷ The chronology of events which is contained in the Statement of Facts is illustrated in a condensed Timeline, which is attached hereto as Addendum 2.

Housing Plan which was determined by the McCall City Council to be compliant with Ordinance 819. Alpine complied with the Ordinance by acquiring the Timbers, by then converting the Timbers to saleable condominium units, and lastly by dedicating the units solely as community housing units. Alpine acquired the Timbers for one and only one reason, namely to comply with Ordinance 819 and move forward with the Alpine Village project.

After the Mountain Central Board of Realtors initiated a lawsuit against the City which facially challenged Ordinance 819 and its companion Ordinance 820, with full knowledge that its Ordinance was being challenged, the City continued to impose Ordinance 819 on Alpine as a mandatory precondition of Alpine's development of Alpine Village. In addition, the City exacted from Alpine a limited release of claims which might arise from the resolution of the *Mountain Central* litigation. Thus, with full knowledge that its Ordinance was being challenged as unconstitutional and unlawful, and with only this limited release, the City continued to require Alpine to comply with the Ordinance by acquiring, converting and restricting the Timbers units.

Ordinance 819 was subsequently found to be unlawful and unconstitutional in the final decision which was rendered in the *Mountain Central* litigation. By the time the City thereafter released the Timbers units from their community housing restrictions and thereby freed Alpine to sell or rent the Timbers units without restrictions, the value of the units had severely declined and Alpine was left with no means to recover its resultant losses. This is the core of Alpine's takings claims which have been asserted in this litigation.

The District Court did not address the merits of Alpine's claims. Instead, the Court found the claims to be time barred or unripe. However, the cross motions for summary judgment

which were presented to the District Court were not limited to the timeliness or ripeness of the claims. Alpine also argued in its Motion that the merits of Alpine's claims could be resolved as a matter of law. In response, the City did not dispute that, if Alpine's claims were found to be timely, a compensable taking had in fact occurred. It is, thus, Alpine's position in this appeal not only that the District Court's holdings should be reversed, but, additionally, that this Court can and should hold that summary judgment should be granted in favor of Alpine on the merits of Alpine's claims, as requested by Alpine in its Motion for Summary Judgment. This would leave for trial only the issue of the amount of compensation to which Alpine is entitled.

II. Standard of Review

This Court applies the same standard in reviewing the appeal of an order granting summary judgment as the District Court used when originally ruling on the motion. This Court exercises free review over the record and over issues of statutory construction. *Huskinson v. Nelson,* 152 Idaho 547, 272 P.3d 519 (2012); *Ball v. City of Blackfoot,* 273 P.3d 1266 (2012). *Troupis v. Summer,* 148 Idaho 77, 79, 218 P.3d 1138, 1140 (2009); *VFP VC v. Dakota Co.,* 141 Idaho 326, 331, 109 P.3d 714, 719 (2005).

III. The City's Imposition of Ordinance 819 on Alpine constituted a Taking or an Inverse Condemnation under Article I, Section 14 of the Idaho Constitution; and, if compensation is denied under Alpine's State Constitutional Claim, then a compensable taking has occurred under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

A. The issue of whether a taking has occurred is an issue of law.

The issue of whether a taking has occurred, as opposed to the amount of compensation which is owed, is a legal issue to be resolved by the Court. *Tibbs v. City of Sandpoint*, 100 Idaho

667, 670, 603 P.2d 1001, 1004 (1979) (citing *Rueth v. State*, 100 Idaho 203, 596 P.2d 75 (1979). See also, *Covington v. Jefferson County*, 137 Idaho 777, 780, 53 P.3d 828, 831 (2002).

This case presents a unique set of facts, not often found in inverse condemnation or takings actions. McCall City Ordinance 819, which is the basis of Alpine's takings claims, has already been held by the Court in *Mountain Central* to be void, unlawful and unconstitutional. Thus, unlike most of the takings cases which will be cited to the Court, the issue of whether the City's underlying ordinance was constitutional or whether the City had any authority at all to require Alpine to expend funds or divest itself of property rights in compliance with the Ordinance has already been fully, finally and adversely resolved against the City.

B. The application of Ordinance 819 to Alpine effectuated a *per se* taking of Alpine's protected property interests.

Both the Idaho and United States Constitutions prohibit the taking of private property for public use without just compensation. The Fifth Amendment's guarantee that private property shall not be taken for public use without just compensation was designed to bar Government from forcing some people alone to bear public burdens which, in all fairness and justice, should be borne by the public as a whole. *Armstrong v. United States*, 364 U.S. 40, 49, 80 S.Ct. 1563, 1569, 4 L.Ed.2d 1554, (1960).

In *Lingle v. Chevron U.S.A. Inc.*, 544 U.S. 528, 125 S. Ct. 2074, 2076, 161 L. Ed. 2d 876 (2005), the U.S. Supreme Court identified the two types of regulatory actions which will be deemed to be *per se* takings under the Fifth Amendment:

Regulatory actions generally will be deemed *per se* takings for Fifth Amendment purposes (1) where government requires an owner to suffer a permanent physical invasion of its property, see *Loretto v. Teleprompter Manhattan CATV Corp.* 458 U.S. 419, 102 S.Ct. 3164, 73 L.Ed.2d 868, or (2) where regulations completely deprive an owner of "all economically beneficial us[e]" of her property, *Lucas v. South Carolina Coastal Council*, 505 U.S. 1003, 1019, 112 S.Ct. 2886, 120 L.Ed.2d 798.⁹

Ordinance 819 effectuated a *Loretto* type of *per se* physical taking of two constitutionally protected property interests, Alpine's money and Alpine's right to freely exclude people from and dispose of its property. Either way, the application of the Ordinance to Alpine was a *per se* violation of the aforesaid Idaho and United States Constitutional provisions for which compensation must be paid.

1. The City took a fundamental and constitutionally protected property right from Alpine, namely the right to freely exclude people from and dispose of its property.

One of the bundle of fundamental, constitutionally protected property rights which has been recognized by the courts is the right of an owner to freely exclude people from and dispose of property. This Court has recognized that, "Property in a thing consists not merely in its ownership and possession, but in the *unrestricted right* of use, enjoyment and disposal.

Anything which destroys any of these elements of property, to that extent destroys the property itself." *O'Connor v. City of Moscow*, 69 Idaho 37, 42, 202 P.2d 401, 404 (1949) (*emphasis added*). This view is not unique to Idaho. The United States Supreme Court has long held that property consists of a "[G]roup of rights inhering in the citizen's relation to the physical thing, as

⁸ "[N]or shall private property be taken for public use, without just compensation." Fifth Amendment to U.S. Const. "Private property may be taken for public use, but not until a just compensation, to be ascertained in the manner prescribed by law, shall be paid therefor." Idaho Const. Art. I, §14.

the right to possess, use and dispose of it." *U.S. v. Gen. Motors Corp.*, 323 U.S. 373, 378, 65 S. Ct. 357, 359, 89 L. Ed. 311 (1945). See also *Kaiser Aetna v. U. S.*, 444 U.S. 164, 179, 100 S. Ct. 383, 393, 62 L. Ed. 2d 332 (1979), "[W]e hold that the 'right to exclude,' so universally held to be a fundamental element of the property right, falls within this category of interests that the Government cannot take without compensation."

The City required Alpine to permanently deed restrict its community housing units as to both purchase price and eligible purchasers. Alpine was required to place restrictions on its property which allowed Alpine to sell or lease its property only at restricted prices and only to those individuals who met certain age, income and residency requirements, as established and administered by the City of McCall. R., Ex. II (Ex. 1, p. 9, ¶7). In short, the City took from Alpine its fundamental right to dispose of its property to whomever it chose and for whatever price it could obtain. The City also took from Alpine its right to freely exclude others from the property and to determine who will occupy the property.

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