# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-25-2012

# Alpine Village Co. v. City of McCall Respondent's Brief Dckt. 39580

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

Nor can Alpine show that it relied to its detriment on a reasonable assumption that the City would waive the 180-day rule. If Alpine really thought that the City's action in 2008 (refunding fees under Ordinance 820) meant that it was waiving the ITCA and welcoming lawsuits under Ordinance 819, why didn't Alpine take advantage of the City's "waiver"? It is obvious that Alpine dreamed up this lawsuit years later, not as a result of some revoked promise by the City that it could take its time in filing suit. In sum, Alpine has not been disadvantaged or induced to change its position as a result of any action or representation by the City.

Alpine concedes that its quasi-estoppel argument is based on "[t]he identical set of facts

which form the basis for the equal protection defense." Appellant's Brief at 28. Thus, if applicable at all, it fails for the same reasons discussed above. In short, the City acted rationally and fairly in refunding fees and releasing developers from restrictions on their property. To suggest that the City's action is unconscionable does not pass the straight face test. 11

#### ALPINE'S STATE LAW CLAIMS MAY BE SUBJECT TO THE ITCA'S TWO-YEAR III. STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

The City calls to the Court's attention, as it did in district court, that the ITCA contains its own two-year statute of limitations, Idaho Code § 6-911. The plain language of Idaho Code § 50-219 broadly applies all of the ITCA's requirements governing the filing of damage actions against cities: "All claims for damages against a city must be filed as prescribed by chapter 9, title 6, Idaho Code." This would appear to embrace not only the 180-day notice requirement, but the statute of limitations. The City has found no case in which this argument has been presented. Despite the lack of precedent, the argument seems to make sense.

#### IV. IN ANY EVENT, ALPINE'S STATE CLAIMS ARE UNTIMELY UNDER IDAHO'S FOUR-YEAR STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

Alpine acknowledges that its state takings claim is subject to Idaho's residual four-year statute of limitations, Idaho Code § 5-224. Appellant's Brief at 29. Thus, if Alpine's cause of action accrued before December 10, 2006, its lawsuit is untimely.

In fact, Alpine's cause of action accrued about six months earlier, on June 20, 2006, the day it filed its development applications. Alpine acknowledged in its complaint that it knew at the time of its applications that it was required to contribute property to community housing. "Ordinance 819 required any applicant seeking the City's approval of a new residential

Page 19 of 49 RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

1506450\_10, 4432-8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> As the final kick to this dead horse, even if estoppel were applied here, it would only restart the clock and extend the deadline to 180 days from the date that the City stopped accepting refund requests. Since that date was December 31, 2009 (Appellant's Brief at 25), the new deadline for filing the notice of claim would be June 29, 2010. Thus, even under Alpine's estoppel theory, its action is still barred because Alpine did not submit its claim to the City until November 15, 2010.

subdivision or condominium project to submit and Inclusionary Housing Plan (a.k.a. Community Housing Plan) with the initial subdivision application." Second Amended Complaint ¶ 8, R. Vol. II, p. 200. "On June 20, 2006, Plaintiff submitted the applications to the City which were required by the McCall City Code for preliminary approval of the Alpine Village project. . . . As required by Ordinance 819, a Community Housing Plan was submitted with the Preliminary Applications." Id. ¶ 10, R. Vol. II. p. 201. Indeed, Alpine submitted its proposed housing plan June 4, 2006, a couple weeks in advance of the applications. R. Ex. II (Ex. 4). 12 Alpine admits that the housing obligation was controlled by the Ordinance's fixed formula based on "a specified percentage of the total units in the subdivision." Appellant's Brief at 3. The ordinance provided some leeway as to how the housing contribution is made (onsite versus offsite versus in lieu payments), but it provided no flexibility or way around the requirement that the contribution be made. Thus, since Alpine knew how many units it wanted to build, it was a simple matter to understand the extent of its obligation on June 20, 2006.

It makes no difference whether the exaction ultimately would be paid in the form of mobile home sites, the Timbers, on-site units, or in lieu cash. Whatever form it took, the exaction was equally unconstitutional. Alpine could have initiated suit right then—which, as a facial challenge to the ordinance, would have been permissible even before the City acted on the applications. McCuskey I, 123 Idaho at 660, 851 P.2d at 956. After all, the plaintiff in Mountain Central did not wait until its members filed applications, and it had a cause of action.

Alpine's position that it had no cause of action until the City approved use of the Timbers runs counter to a mountain of appellate precedent. A cause of action arises as soon as it becomes

Page 20 of 49

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> "Alpine proposed to satisfy the requirements of Ordinance 819 by providing six community housing units on site and by converting 16 mobile home spaces which were owned by Alpine to Community Housing Rental Units." Alpine's Opening Trial Brief at 3, R. Vol. II, p. 368.

apparent that the government is requiring an unlawful and uncompensated conveyance or impairment of a person's property. In the words of this Court, "The time of taking occurs, and hence the cause of action accrues, as of the time that the full extent of the plaintiff's loss of use and enjoyment of the property becomes apparent." McCuskey v. Canyon County Comm'rs ("McCuskey II"), 128 Idaho 213, 217, 912 P.2d 100, 104 (1996).

But "full extent" does not mean that the exact quantity of the regulatory taking be known. McCuskey contended that the statute did not begin to run until the Court ruled the county's zoning action illegal, because only then did he know the full extent of damages for the temporary taking. The Court rejected this argument, explaining that the lack of quantification of the loss is not an excuse for delay in filing the lawsuit:

> Moreover, it is well settled that uncertainty as to the amount of damages cannot bar recovery so long as the underlying cause of action is determined. Besides, although McCuskey may not have known the full extent of his damages at the time the stop-work order was issued, he would have known with certainty what they were once a taking had been finally adjudicated.

McCuskey II, 128 Idaho at 218, 912 P.2d at 105 (citation omitted). Thus, the clock begins to run when interference with plaintiff's property is sufficiently apparent that a cause of action has arisen, even if the damages are not yet quantified. On June 20, 2006, it was fully apparent and absolutely certain that some property would be taken, thus giving Alpine a cause of action. Indeed, if had been brought in a timely fashion, the City might have been barred from the taking and there would have been no need to quantify anything.

In a case decided the same year as McCuskey II, this Court explained that the statute began to run "when the impairment was of such a degree and kind that substantial interference with Wadsworth's property interest became apparent." Wadsworth v. Idaho Department of Transportation, 128 Idaho 439, 443, 915 P.2d 1, 5 (1996). In Rueth v. State, 103 Idaho 74, 79,

Page 21 of 49 RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

644 P.2d 1333, 1338 (1982), this Court held that the statute began to run on the date of a meeting between parties at which time there was "recognition of the severity of the problem." In another case, the Court explained, "The actual date of taking, although not readily susceptible to exact determination, is to be fixed at the point in time at which the impairment, of such a degree and kind as to constitute a substantial interference with plaintiffs' property interest, became apparent." *Tibbs v. City of Sandpoint*, 100 Idaho 667, 671, 603 P.2d 1001, 1005 (1979) (inverse condemnation based on airport expansion).

Despite this clear authority, Alpine asserts that its claim did not accrue until December 13, 2007 (the date of the *Alpine Development Agreement*) or "at the earliest" March 22, 2007 (when the City approved Alpine's proposal to dedicate the Timbers). *Appellant's Brief* at 31. In support of this contention, Alpine relies on *City of Coeur d'Alene v. Simpson*, 142 Idaho 839, 136 P.3d 310 (2006). But *Simpson* does not support Alpine's conclusion.

Simpson involved landowners who built fences on their lakefront property. The City of Coeur d'Alene determined that this violated city ordinances and demanded that the fences be removed. The Simpsons refused, and the City sought an injunction. The landowners counterclaimed for inverse condemnation. Although the Simpson's counter-claim came in 1998, just a year or so after they installed the fences in 1997, the City said that was too late because their cause of action arose when the ordinances were first enacted. The Court disagreed. Simpson, 142 Idaho at 846, 136 P.3d at 317 (citing Palazzolo v. Rhode Island, 553 U.S. 606, 620-21 (2001)). The Court held that the statute of limitations did not begin to run upon enactment of the applicable ordinances, but only when Coeur d'Alene brought an enforcement action against the landowners. This makes sense. The ordinances had been on the books for decades, long before the Simpsons built the fences. Moreover, there was uncertainty until just before the litigation about which

ordinances were in effect. Simpson, 142 Idaho at 843 n.1, 136 P.3d at 314, n.1. Finally, the city's enforcement action involved an exercise of discretion. "More important, however, is the fact that the City brought this action in 1998 to require removal of the fences . . . ." Simpson, 142 Idaho at 846, 136 P.3d at 317.

The situation in the instant case is fundamentally different. First, the City is not alleging that Alpine's cause of action accrued on the enactment of Ordinance 819. Second, the City did not initiate this matter; Alpine did, on June 20, 2006. Third, Ordinance 819 is non-discretionary and sets out a fixed formula for community housing. Accordingly, it was apparent as soon as Alpine's application was filed that there was a taking.<sup>13</sup>

The U.S. Supreme Court made this distinction clear in *Palazzolo*. The Court recognized and contrasted cases in which the regulatory action involved no discretion. "While a landowner must give a land-use authority an opportunity to exercise its discretion, once it becomes clear that the agency lacks the discretion to permit any development, or the permissible uses of the property are known to a reasonable degree of certainty, a takings claim is likely to have ripened." Palazzolo, 53 U.S. at 620.

These cases make clear what really should be obvious. A cause of action does not arise instantly and automatically upon enactment of an ordinance. That ordinance must be applied to someone in order join the issue. That occurred here when Alpine filed its applications on June 20, 2006, which included a housing plan mandated by Ordinance 819.

V. ALPINE'S CLAIMS ALSO FAIL THE EXHAUSTION AND VOLUNTARY ACTION TESTS ESTABLISHED UNDER KMST.

As documented above, the conveyance of property to the City was proposed by Alpine

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> The ordinance set out the formula for fees with particularity. Even if it did not, that would not matter. Alpine's case is not premised on a regulatory taking that "went too far." Rather, it is based on a per se violation of Idaho's constitutional provision dealing with illegal taxes. Thus, one penny is enough for the action to accrue.

itself in its June 20, 2006 applications. When the City balked at the proposal to satisfy the ordinance with mobile home sites, Alpine proposed a mix of on-site units, the Timbers, and an in lieu fee. When the City agreed, Alpine entered into development agreements. It never sought an amendment of the planned unit development (as provided in the McCall Zoning Ordinance § 3.10.12, reproduced in Addendum D), or judicial review under LLUPA.

This falls within the rule governing voluntary actions established by this Court in KMST, LLC v. County of Ada, 138 Idaho 577, 67 P.3d 56 (2003). In that case, a developer brought two claims against the Ada County Highway District ("ACHD"), one in connection with ACHD's road dedication requirement and another in connection with ACHD's impact fees. Other claims against Ada County were not pursued on appeal. The Idaho Supreme Court dismissed both ACHD claims on technical grounds—exhaustion (as to the impact fees) and ripeness (as to the road dedication). Nevertheless, the KMST Court went on to opine as to the merits of the takings claim on the road dedication saying that this was not a taking because it was voluntarily offered. In essence, it was a not a "taking" but a "giving" (our words, not the Court's). The exhaustion and voluntariness issues are discussed in turn below.

### Alpine did not exhaust its administrative remedies.

#### Alpine failed to exhaust. **(1)**

"As a general rule, a party must exhaust administrative remedies before resorting to court to challenge the validity of administrative acts. . . . KMST had the opportunity to challenge the calculation of the impact fees administratively, and it chose not to do so." KMST, 138 Idaho at 583, 67 P.3d at 62. Alpine is in the same position. Alpine could have informed the City that Ordinance 819 was unlawful and that it would not agree to contribute property for affordable housing. Instead, Alpine proposed and ultimately signed two development agreements. By failing to object, or to seek an amendment (as provided in the McCall Zoning Ordinance § 3.10.12,

Page 24 of 49 RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

reproduced in Addendum D), Alpine failed to exhaust.

## (2) Exceptions to the exhaustion requirement do not apply here.

Alpine seeks to hide behind the two exceptions to the requirement of administrative exhaustion: "(a) when the interests of justice so require, and (b) when the agency acted outside its authority," *KMST*, *LLC* v. *County of Ada*, 138 Idaho 577, 583, 67 P.3d 56, 62 (2003). *Appellant's Brief* at 35.

# (a) Alpine cannot meet the "interests of justice" exception.

Alpine presents no argument on this exception, other than saying, "It certainly could be argued." *Appellant's Brief* at 35. In any event, the argument fails. This Court explained: "Typically this situation occurs where irreparable harm results from the administrative process itself. The standard may also be satisfied by showing that the agency lacks power to grant the requested relief, i.e., that exhaustion would be futile." *Park*, 143 Idaho at 581, 149 P.3d at 856 (citations omitted). Alpine has pointed to nothing in the record showing it would have been futile for it to have worked with the City to come up with some alternative to its buying the Timbers before the decision was rendered in *Mountain Central*. Nor has Alpine identified irreparable harm that would have occurred to it had it exhausted its administrative remedies.

# (b) The "outside the agency's authority" exception does not apply.

It is doubtful that this second exception applies at all to "as applied" challenges. A review of this Court's decisions strongly suggests that this exception applies only to <u>facial</u> challenges.<sup>14</sup>

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF Page 25 of 49

<sup>14</sup> After all, KMST was an "as applied" takings case, just like this one. If the mere allegation of an uncompensated taking was sufficient to trigger the exception in an "as applied" challenge, then the exception would have applied there. Instead, this Court recited the exceptions and declared that they did not apply. KMST, 138 Idaho 583, 67 P.3d 62. A similar result obtained in Park. "Even if these claims are interpreted as a constitutional challenge to the validity of a statute or rule, it does not follow that exhaustion is waived. Although facial challenges to the validity of a statute or ordinance need not proceed through administrative channels, as-applied challenges may be required to do so." Park, 143 Idaho at 581-82, 149 P.3d at 856-57. White also involved an "as applied" constitutional challenge to the issuance of a conditional use permit. The Court did not apply any exceptions to the exhaustion rule.

This makes sense, because further administrative process would add nothing to the purely legal question presented in a facial challenge. In contrast, "a district court cannot properly engage in an 'as applied' constitutional challenge until a complete factual record has been developed." American Falls Reservoir Dist. No. 2 v. IDWR, 143 Idaho 862, 872, 154 P.3d 433, 443 (2007). "Thus, the exception for when an agency exceeds its authority does not apply unless the CM Rules are facially unconstitutional." Id. 15

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